NO. 47011-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION TWO

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL PIERCE,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE  
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR JEFFERSON COUNTY

The Honorable Keith Harper, Judge  
The Honorable Sally Olsen, Judge

---

---

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

CATHERINE E. GLINSKI  
Attorney for Appellant

Glinski Law Firm PLLC  
P.O. Box 761  
Manchester, WA 98353  
(360) 876-2736

##

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court erred in finding that there was no government misconduct justifying dismissal under CrR 8.3(b). (Memorandum Opinion on Motion to Dismiss, CP 1460).

2. The court erred in finding that the actions which resulted in discontinuation of appellant's medications were minor acts of negligence. CP 1460.

3. The court erred in finding that the events which led to discontinuation of appellant's medications should not be imputed to the State's responsibility. CP 1461.

4. The court erred in finding that the misconduct was an action of negligence beyond the State's control. CP 1461.

5. The court erred in finding there was no nexus between Conmed employees and the prosecutors. CP 1460-61.

6. The court erred in finding there was no arbitrary action which would justify dismissal under CrR 8.3(b). CP 1462-63.

7. The court erred in finding jail staff did not act with deliberate indifference to appellant's medical needs. CP 1469.

8. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the charges under CrR 8.3(b).

9. The court erred in denying appellant's motion for mistrial after a witness improperly referred to the prior appeal in this case.

10. The court erred in ruling evidence that appellant shoplifted a pellet gun was relevant and admissible as res gestae, preparation and plan, and identity. CP 696 (1.b); CP 754 (conclusion of law 5).

11. The court erred in ruling evidence of the pellet gun theft was relevant to prove elements of robbery and theft. CP 696 (1.c); CP 755 (conclusion of law 6).

12. The court erred in ruling that evidence of the pellet gun theft was probative and not unduly prejudicial. CP 696 (1.d); CP 755 (conclusion of law 7).

13. The court erred in permitting the sheriff's deputy to offer his opinion that the person in the ATM surveillance photograph was appellant. CP 698 (3.d), 760.

14. The court erred in refusing to give the proposed cautionary instruction regarding informant testimony.

15. Cumulative error denied appellant a fair trial.

Issues pertaining to assignments of error

1. While appellant was incarcerated during trial, his psychotropic medications were discontinued, due to a faulty medication policy and deliberate indifference of the jail's medical staff. Appellant



was rendered incompetent and involuntarily absent from the proceedings during a full day of testimony, and the trial court declared a mistrial. Where arbitrary action and governmental misconduct prejudiced appellant's rights to confrontation, due process, and a fair trial, should his motion to dismiss have been granted? (Assignments of Error 1-8)

2. Appellant's convictions were reversed on appeal and his case remanded for retrial. In violation of a pretrial ruling excluding reference to the procedural posture of the case, a jailhouse informant testified that he had advised appellant on his appeal for prosecutorial misconduct. Where this serious trial irregularity was so inherently prejudicial that it rendered the court's attempted curative instruction ineffective, should the court have granted appellant's motion for a mistrial? (Assignment of Error 9)

3. Did the admission of evidence that appellant committed a crime unrelated to the charged offenses allow the jury to convict him based on criminal propensity and deny him a fair trial? (Assignments of Error 10-12)

4. The court allowed a law enforcement officer to identify appellant as the person depicted in a surveillance photograph. Where there was no showing that the officer was more likely to correctly identify appellant from the photograph than the jury, did admission of the opinion

testimony unfairly invade the province of the jury? (Assignment of Error 13)

5. The State relied on testimony from jailhouse informants who received favorable consideration in exchange for their testimony implicating appellant. Did the court's refusal of the proposed defense instruction cautioning the jury on the use of informant testimony deny appellant the right to a fair trial by an adequately instructed jury? (Assignment of Error 14)

6. Does cumulative error require reversal of appellant's convictions? (Assignment of Error 15)

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Procedural History

In March 2009, the Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney charged appellant Michael Pierce with multiple counts arising from the murder of Patrick and Janice Yarr. CP 1-6. In May 2010 he was convicted after a jury trial of two counts of first degree murder, first degree robbery, first degree burglary, first degree arson, theft of a firearm, unlawful possession of a firearm, and second degree theft of an access device. CP 30-40. This Court reversed his convictions on appeal and remanded for a new trial. CP 57-58.

The case was set for jury trial in Jefferson County Superior Court before the Honorable Keith C. Harper. Judge Harper conducted pretrial evidentiary hearings and issued rulings on the parties' motions in limine. CP 657-59, 668-71, 693-765. The case proceeded to trial, but after several days of testimony one of the jurors informed the court that she believed she might have been a witness to some of the events described at trial. CP 690. At the parties' joint request, the court declared a mistrial and ordered a change of venue to Kitsap County. CP 685-92.

The second retrial commenced in Kitsap County Superior Court before the Honorable Sally Olsen in February 2014. After several days of testimony, it was discovered that the medical staff at the Kitsap County Jail had stopped giving Pierce his psychotropic medications. CP 968. The court recessed the proceedings to address the situation. After a competency evaluation and hearing, the court ruled that the withholding of medications rendered Pierce incompetent throughout a full day of testimony. It declared a mistrial on a finding of manifest necessity. CP 920-25, 966-73.

Following this second mistrial, the defense filed a motion to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) and for violation of double jeopardy and due process. CP 975-1035. After a four-day evidentiary hearing, the court denied the motion. CP 1450-75.

A jury was empaneled and the next retrial commenced on October 20, 2014. The jury returned guilty verdicts as well as special verdicts finding Pierce was armed with a firearm and committed the murders in the course of first degree robbery and first degree burglary and that the arson involved a fire which was manifestly dangerous to human life and damaged a dwelling. CP 1902-15. The court imposed an exceptional sentence with firearm enhancements, for a total of 1404 months confinement. CP 1950-59. Pierce filed this timely appeal. CP 1962-63.

2. Substantive Facts

Janice and Patrick Yarr lived on a farm on Boulton Road, just off Highway 101 in Quilcene. Janice worked as a bookkeeper for a construction company, and Patrick operated a logging truck and raised cattle. 35RP<sup>1</sup> 65-66.

On the evening of March 18, 2009, Merle Frantz was driving home to Quilcene from Kitsap County. 35RP 188. As he passed the Yarrs' farm at 8:11, he noticed a small fire about the size of a bonfire. 35RP 189-90. He did not report the fire at the time because it did not look big enough to bother about. 35RP 190.

John McConaghy was driving on Highway 101 around 8:20 p.m. when he saw a structure fire with huge flames. 36RP 239-40. He drove

---

<sup>1</sup> See Appendix for list of transcripts included in the Verbatim Report of Proceedings.

up to Boulton Road as his passenger called 911. McConaghy ran to the house, which was completely in flames, and banged on the windows and doors to see if anyone was inside. 36RP 240. He ran around the house to the lower level and banged on a window down there but got no response. At that point he heard glass breaking upstairs. 36RP 241-42.

When firefighters arrived at 8:38, the fire had blown through the roof. The heaviest concentration was in the corner where the kitchen and carport were located, and it appeared that was where the fire started. 36RP 265-66, 273. After the fire was suppressed, firefighters searched the building. 36RP 276-77. Two bodies, later identified as Patrick and Janice Yarr, were discovered in the kitchen. 36RP 278-79; 39RP 774. The bodies were face down, and the majority of their heads were missing. 36RP 342. Spent bullets were found under their heads as well as in a bedroom below the kitchen. 36RP 368, 383. After an autopsy, the medical examiner determined that the Yarrs had died from massive head trauma caused by high energy gunshot wounds and were dead before the fire started. 39RP 773; 44RP 1595, 1597.

A sheriff's department fire investigator determined that the fire had started in the kitchen/dining room area, and the majority of the fire was in that location. There was no damage to the lower level of the daylight basement home. 36RP 350-53. Burnt char on the kitchen floor showed

the outline of what appeared to be flammable liquid, and investigators noticed an odor of gasoline. Samples were collected and sent to the crime lab, which confirmed the presence of gasoline. 36RP 354; 37RP 477. The investigating team determined that the fire was intentionally set by introducing open flame to gasoline in the area where the bodies were found. 36RP 369. A trailer of gasoline from the threshold of the door to the bodies was used so that the arsonist could start the fire but not get burned, and once the gasoline was ignited, the door was closed. 37RP 617-18; 38RP 644, 647. The arson investigator concluded the fire was intentionally set to conceal evidence of murder. 38RP 651.

Forensic analysis of the spent bullets found under the Yarrs after the fire showed they were .25 caliber class. 44RP 1520. The Yarrs' daughters testified that their father owned guns and he kept one of them, a rifle, upstairs near the sliding glass door between the kitchen and dining room so that he could shoot coyotes or cougars that might attack his animals. 35RP 74-75, 109-11. Yarr's friend Wallace Bowman testified that Yarr owned a .25-06 sporting rifle, but he believed Yarr stored that gun in a bedroom in the basement. CP 606.<sup>2</sup> Investigators located antique firearms, and double barreled shotgun, and a rifle case in the downstairs

---

<sup>2</sup> Bowman was unavailable to testify, and by agreement a video of his testimony at the first trial was played for the jury. 36RP 425. A transcript of the testimony is attached to the State's motion, contained in the clerk's papers at pages 599-614.

office of the house. 37RP 484-86. They found two rifles in the master bedroom. One was a Ruger M-77 chambered in .300 Winchester Magnum, and the other a Savage 99, chambered in .300 Savage. 37RP 488. Investigators did not locate a .25-06 rifle, nor did they find any guns in the kitchen area. 37RP 530.

Michelle Hamm, the Yarrs' daughter testified that it was her parents' routine to eat dinner between 6:00 and 6:30. After dinner, her father would shower in the downstairs bathroom and then make some business calls. Her mother would do bookkeeping tasks for the farm and business. 35RP 69-72. Patty Waters, the Yarrs' younger daughter, spoke with her parents for about 15 minutes a little after 6:00 on the evening of March 18, 2009. Her mother was cooking dinner while Waters spoke to her father, and the call ended when dinner was ready. 35RP 113-15.

Kenneth Woodcock, a longtime friend of Patrick Yarr's, called the Yarrs' home at 6:30, and the fax machine picked up. He called back at 6:42 and got the answering machine. 46RP 1853.

Gregory Brooks lived in a small house on Boulton Road next to the Yarrs' barn and garage. 35RP 151. On March 18, 2009, he got home from work, put some laundry in the dryer, then drove up to the Yarrs' house to ask about some work. 35RP 152. He arrived at the house sometime between 6:50 and 7:10. 35RP 153. Brooks noticed that Janice's

car was parked in front of the garage, and he saw the truck that Patrick drove. 35RP 153. He knocked on the door a few times and waited a couple of minutes, but no one answered. He looked through the window in the door but did not see anyone and noticed nothing unusual. 35RP 152-54. Brooks drove back to his house, packed a bag, and left to go to his girlfriend's. 35RP 152. He did not notice any activity as he drove back past the Yarrs' house, no lights were on, and he saw no signs of a fire. 35RP 155-56, 166.

DeEtte Broderson talked to Patrick Yarr on the telephone about business on the evening of March 18, 2009. 35RP 177. Broderson usually called Yarr between 7:00 and 8:00 in the evening. 35RP 179. When he was talking to Yarr that night it sounded like Yarr was eating, and he had the impression that Yarr ended the call because another call was coming in. 35RP 180-81. After Broderson spoke to Yarr that night, he watched either Wheel of Fortune or Greta van Susteren. Both shows aired between 7:00 and 7:30. 35RP 179; 39RP 787.

Based on the timing of these contacts with the Yarrs and the discovery and description of the fire, an arson investigator concluded that the fire started sometime between 7:30 and 7:50. 38RP 643. The investigator believed the fire was burning for 20-40 minutes or a little longer before the first witness saw it. 38RP 645.



On March 18, 2009, Pamela Roberts was driving home from work along Highway 101 toward Quilcene. 40RP 1078-79. As she went around a curve near Boulton Farm at around 7:45, she saw a man walking along the road. 40RP 1081, 1083. He was a large man, and he was walking briskly. 40RP 1083. The man was wearing a hoodie, which he pulled over his face as Roberts passed. 40RP 1084. Roberts also saw a distinctive black jacket with some sort of texture on the back. 40RP 1086, 1106.

Laura Meynberg lived in Port Townsend and worked in Renton. In 2009 her husband had a charter flight business, and when he had flights between Port Townsend and Boeing Field, she would ride with him to get to work. 40RP 1029, 1031-32. She returned from maternity leave in March 2009 and worked Tuesday through Thursday. Her husband's parents in Quilcene babysat their daughter, and they would pick her up after work. 40RP 1032-33. Her husband preferred to drive from Port Townsend to Quilcene on Highway 101, although they sometimes took an alternate route. 40RP 1035. Meynberg would have flown to Seattle with her husband on March 18, 2009, which was a Wednesday. At the time of trial, she did not have a specific recollection of this date, but she checked her husband's schedule to confirm that they had flown together, and she described how their commute typically progressed. 40RP 1036.

Meyenberg testified that she and her husband would have arrived at the Jefferson County airfield at 7:00 and would have driven to Quilcene to pick up their daughter. They would have then headed back to Port Townsend sometime between 7:30 and 7:45. 40RP 1038-38.

Meyenberg also described an event that had caught her attention one night as she and her husband were driving home. She said they were headed north, with her husband driving. They went up an incline, and as they headed back down she saw a man walking north on their side of the road. He was walking quickly and had his head covered. 40RP 1038-38. As they got closer, the man pulled a hood or something over his face. 40RP 1040. The man was large and square and white. 40RP 1039-40. A little while later she saw a white car perpendicular to the road on a farm turnout. She commented that it looked like a Corolla, but her husband said it was a Honda Civic. 40RP 1041.

Meyenberg could not say when this occurred other than it was during the Spring of 2009. 40RP 1043. Nor could she say what road they were on. 40RP 1044. She did not remember the incident until July 2013, when she was serving as a juror and heard Pamela Roberts testify about a similar incident. 4RP 2007; 40RP 1042, 1048. She acknowledged that the most she could say was that she saw a big man walking down a road. She did not remember what road, she did not remember what day, and she was

not sure whether the big man and the little Honda were linked. 40RP 1049.

Annabelle Leigh lived in Quilcene in March 2009, and she remembered seeing the fire as she drove home from Poulsbo. 47RP 2023. She also saw a large, heavysset man by the side of the road at the interchange of Highway 101 and Highway 104, about 2 miles from Boulton Road. The man was wearing a hooded shirt and dark clothing, and he had a duffle bag. He had facial hair, and his hood was all the way up. 47RP 2023-25, 2063.

Sergeant Mark Apeland of the Jefferson County Sheriff's Office was the lead investigator in the case. On March 26, 2009, Apeland contacted the Yarrs' bank to see if their accounts had been accessed after they were killed. 38RP 684, 701. Bank records showed that Janice Yarr's debit card was used to withdraw \$300 from the ATM at the US Bank in Quilcene at 8:10 p.m. on March 18, 2009. 38RP 387-90. Apeland obtained a series of still images from the ATM surveillance camera for that time. 38RP 703. The photographs showed a large, heavy-set man wearing a baseball cap with a sunburst pattern on it, covering the lower part of his face with his tee shirt as he used the ATM. 38RP 705, 708-10, 715. Apeland viewed the photos several times at the bank, then had the images placed on a CD, which he took to the sheriff's department. 38RP

706. After looking at the images a few more times, Apeland was confident the man was Michael Pierce. He knew Pierce from previous contacts, including a face-to-face conversation a year earlier. 38RP 715-16. Pierce is six feet, three inches tall, heavy set, and weighed about 300 pounds the last time Apeland saw him. 38RP 716. Once Apeland determined that Pierce was a suspect, he developed a plan to place Pierce under surveillance and arrest him for using the ATM card. 38RP 717, 719.

Pierce was arrested on March 28, 2009. He told Apeland and Detective Joel Nole that he attended school in Port Angeles and lived part time with his girlfriend in Sequim and part time with his mother in Quilcene. 39RP 793. Pierce and his girlfriend had lived on Boulton Road for about a year before moving in with his mother and then to Sequim. 40RP 1132; 42RP 1200. While they lived on Boulton Road, Pierce did odd jobs for Patrick Yarr. 39RP 756, 760; 40RP 1132. Pierce denied using the Yarrs' debit card on March 18. He said he had used the ATM at the Quilcene US Bank about 10 days earlier to withdraw cash using his mother's card. 39RP 794.

Apeland obtained a warrant for Pierce's bank records. 38RP 727. Pierce had an account at the US Bank in Quilcene. Records showed that he did not access his account at the ATM in Quilcene on March 18, 2009.

38RP 732. There was also no record that Pierce's mother's debit card was used at that branch on that date. 38RP 734.

Deputies also obtained warrants to search the house Pierce shared with his girlfriend, his mother's house, and cars belonging to Pierce, his girlfriend, and his mother. 39RP 795-96. Nothing of evidentiary value was found in either house or in a shed outside the house in Sequim. 39RP 815-16. No firearms were found. 39RP 829.

While police were searching the house in Sequim, Pierce's neighbor told them he had seen Pierce place two trash bags in the dumpster. 39RP 767, 816. The deputies located the two bags and searched them. 39RP 816. Inside one of the bags they found a large tee shirt and a pair of men's socks, both soaking wet. 39RP 817-18. The clothing was sent to the crime lab for analysis, where it was determined that none of the stains on the tee shirt was blood. 43RP 1403.

An accelerant detection canine handler participated in the search of the Sequim home. 46RP 1919. In addition to walking the dog through the home, the handler had the dog examine all the shoes found in the home, a pile of laundry from the laundry room, and the clothing found in the dumpster. 46RP 1929-34. The dog did not alert on any of these items. 46RP 1935. The dog was also used in the search of Pierce's mother's home and did not alert on anything. 46RP 1935-36.

Investigators searched a Jeep belonging to Pierce, his mother's Dodge Stealth, and a white 1987 Honda Accord registered to Pierce's girlfriend, Tiffany Rondeau. 39RP 826. A forensic scientist from the crime lab searched the vehicles for trace evidence, hairs, fibers, blood, possible weapons, and anything related to the crime. She swabbed for blood on the exterior handles and trunk release and on the carpets and seats inside. 40RP 985-86. No trace evidence of blood, hair or fibers was found to link the cars to the murder scene. 40RP 988-90, 1005-11, 1015.

There was no floor mat on the driver's compartment floor of Rondeau's Honda. 39RP 831. There was an after-market floor mat on the front passenger floor, and the stock driver's side floor mat was found in the trunk. 39RP 832, 844. At a later date Detective Nole was examining photos taken of the interior of the car when he noticed a debris line in the foot well of the driver's compartment, which looked like a floor mat had been there at one point but was removed. 39RP 844-45. There was also a significant amount of debris on the floorboard, and it looked like the car had not been vacuumed in a very long time. 40RP 1013.

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