NO. 47011-0-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL PIERCE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF JEFFERSON COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON Superior Court No. 09-1-00058-7

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MICHAEL E. HAAS Jefferson County Prosecuting Attorney 1820 Jefferson St./P.O. Box 1220 Port Townsend, WA 98368 (360) 385-9180

JEREMY A. MORRIS Special Deputy Prosecuting Attorney 519 Division Street, Suite C Port Orchard, WA 98366 (360) 519-3500

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

The Defendant next claims the trial erred in admitting evidence from Sergeant Apeland that he recognized the Defendant from the ATM surveillance photographs. App.'s Br. at 62. This claim is without merit because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in holding that the evidence was admissible. In addition, any error in this regard was clearly harmless error as several witnesses identified the Defendant in the ATM footage and defense counsel repeatedly admitted to the jury that it was the Defendant who was depicted in the ATM footage and the Defendant was thus guilty of the crime of Theft in the Second Degree.

Under Washington law the admission of opinion evidence lies within the discretion of the trial court. *State v. Weygandt*, 20 Wn. App. 599, 606,

581 P.2d 1376 (1978). ER 701 permits lay opinion testimony when rationally based on the perception of the witness and helpful to a clear understanding of his testimony or the determination of a fact in issue. *State v. Hardy*, 76 Wn. App. 188, 190, 884 P.2d 8 (1994). A lay witness may give an opinion as to the identity of a person in a surveillance photograph if there is some basis for concluding that the witness is more likely to correctly identify the defendant from the photograph than is the jury. *Hardy*, 76 Wn. App. at 190 (*citing United States v. Farnsworth*, 729 F.2d 1158, 1160 (8th Cir.1984)).

In *Hardy*, Division One held that because a police officer had known the defendant for several years, he was in a better position than the jury to identify Hardy in the "somewhat grainy" videotape. *Hardy*, 76 Wn. App. at 191. The court disagreed that the officer's opinion regarding the identity of the man in the videotape invaded the province of the jury, as "The jury was free to disbelieve the officer, thus "the ultimate issue of identification was left to the jury." *Id.* at 191.

In the present case the trial court found that Sergeant Apeland had been involved in two separate arrests of the Defendant and that, approximately a year before the murders, Sgt. Apeland sat across a small table in the Sheriff's office and had a conversation with the Defendant. CP 758. The trial court also noted the Defendant had gained weight after the ATM footage was taken and the Defendant had disguised himself somewhat

in the footage by pulling his t-shirt over his nose. CP 760. The court thus held that "Sgt. Apeland had sufficient prior personal contacts with Pierce, and may testify that it is Pierce in the ATM video." CP 760.

Given this record, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in concluding that Sergeant Apeland was more likely to correctly identify the Defendant from the surveillance photographs than was the jury, the trial court acted well within its discretion in admitting his identification testimony.

Furthermore, even if one were to assume for the sake of argument that the trial court erred in allowing this testimony, any error in this regard was clearly harmless. Under Washington law an appellate court reviews potentially erroneous rulings of admissibility under the nonconstitutional harmless error standard. *State v. Morales*, 173 Wn.2d 560, 582, 269 P.3d 263 (2012). An erroneous ruling of admissibility will not amount to reversible error unless the court determines that "within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *State v. Calegar*, 133 Wn.2d 718, 727, 947 P.2d 235 (1997), *quoting State v. Smith*, 106 Wn.2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986). The outcome of a trial is materially affected if the jury would have reached a different verdict had the error not occurred. *State v. Hardy*, 133 Wn.2d 701, 712, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997).

In the present case, even if the trial court could be said to have erred, any error was harmless for several reasons. First, several other witnesses identified the Defendant as the person depicted in the ATM video. Specifically, Ms. McLaughlin examined the photos taken from the ATM machine and recognized the coat and hat and said the man in the photos was consistent with the Defendant in that he had the same body shape and size and the same hat. RP 928-32. In addition, ATF Agent Reeves reviewed the ATM footage and examined photographs of the Defendant's hands, fingers, forearm, wrist, and ears and concluded with a high degree of confidence that the person in the ATM photos was the Defendant. RP 1440-49.⁷ This testimony has not been challenged on appeal.

Given this testimony, the identification by Sergeant Apeland was somewhat cumulative and thus any error was harmless. More importantly, however, the defense never argued below that it was not the Defendant who was depicted in the ATM footage. Rather, defense counsel conceded the Defendant was guilty of the charge of Theft in the Second Degree based on the use of the Yarr's ATM card in both the opening statement and closing argument. Specifically, in closing argument defense counsel stated, "Mr. Pierce isn't disputing that that is him at the ATM machine." RP 2189.

⁷ The Defendant did not object to ATF Agent Reeves testimony below. *See* RP (6/18/2013) at 186.

At the beginning of the trial, I asked you to find Mr. Pierce not guilty of all the charges except one. Why just one? It's because it's the only charge that the State could prove without putting Mr. Pierce in their home that night, and it's Theft of an Access Device.

Look at the instructions, it's instructions 43 and 44, two ways you can commit the crime of theft of an access device. One is wrongfully obtain it. That would be stealing it from somebody. The other is unauthorized use, and that is what is happening here. They have proved beyond a reasonable doubt this Michael Pierce used an ATM card that night.

How? His girlfriend testified that is him. Sergeant Apeland recognized him. I think the woman at the DOL recognized him. His teacher recognized him. We had testimony from ATF Agent Reid [sic] who did all sorts of analyses and said, that's him. They proved that charge beyond a reasonable doubt. He is taking money that doesn't belong to him. It's Mr. and Mrs. Yarr's card.

RP 2193-94.8

As defense counsel had argued to the jury from the beginning of the case that it was the Defendant in the ATM footage and that the Defendant was thus guilty of the crime of theft of an access device since he improperly

⁸ See also, RP 2180, where defense counsel is discussing the Defendant's movements of the day of the murder and after mentioning Henry's Hardward, states,

[&]quot;Where do we see him next? We see him at the bank machine at 8:11. All right. What does he have on? He has got the same hat, and he has got the same t-shirt on. Why doesn't he have his jacket on to make an effort to obscure his identity? Although, as we have heard, it wasn't very effective because there are plenty of people that could identify him.

Why doesn't he have his jacket on? He doesn't have his jacket on because he has his name on the front left lapel that says "Mike." It says "Peninsula Automotive." So the jacket is not pictured because he has taken it off so as not to clue people in that the fellow using the Yarr's ATM card is Mike."

used the Yarr's ATM card, there could have been no prejudice whatsoever from the trial court's admission of Sergeant Apeland's testimony regarding his identification of the Defendant in the ATM footage.

The Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting the testimony at issue. Furthermore, even if the trial court erred, any error was clearly harmless as the defense conceded at trial that it was the Defendant who was depicted in the ATM footage. The Defendant's claim, therefore, is without merit.

E. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT DECLINED TO GIVE **DEFENDANT'S PROPOSED JURY** INSTRUCTION ON TESTIMONY JAILHOUSE INFORMANTS, BECAUSE THE WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS HAS SPECIFICALLY HELD **THAT** A TRIAL COURT DOES NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY REFUSING TO **GIVE SUCH** INSTRUCTION AND BECAUSE THE TRIAL **COURT'S** INSTRUCTIONS AS **GIVEN** ALLOWED THE DEFENDANT TO ARGUE HIS THEORY OF THE CASE AND DID NOT MISLEAD THE JURY OR MISSTATE THE LAW.

The Defendant next argues that the trial court abused its discretion by not giving a jury instruction regarding jailhouse informants. App.'s Br. at 66.

This claim is without merit because Washington law does not require such an

instruction and the Court of Appeals has specifically held that a trial court does not abuse its discretion when it declines to give an instruction regarding testimony from a jailhouse informant. Furthermore, the actual instructions that were given in the present case allowed the Defendant to argue his theory of the case and did not mislead the jury or misstate the law. Thus, the Defendant can show neither an error nor any abuse of discretion.

In the present case the Defendant proposed the following instruction regarding testimony from a jailhouse informant:

You have heard testimony of Bradley Reynolds and Richmond Dhaenens, witnesses who received a beneficial plea bargain from the government in connection with this case. For this reason, in evaluating the testimony of Bradley Reynolds and Richmond Dhaenens, you should consider the extent to which or whether their testimony may have been influenced by this benefit. In addition, you should examine the testimony of Bradley Reynolds and Richmond Dhaenens with greater caution than that of other witnesses.

CP 1721. The trial court declined to give this instruction, noting that there was no Washington law cited in favor of the instruction, and the trial court further noted that Jury Instruction Number 1, based on WPIC 1.02, included language that allowed defense counsel to make its arguments about the credibility of the witnesses. RP 2092-93.

A trial court's refusal to give a proposed instruction is reviewed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Hummel*, 165 Wn. App. 749, 777,

266 P.3d 269 (2012), citing State v. Picard, 90 Wn. App. 890, 954 P.2d 336 (1998). A trial court abuses its discretion if its decision is manifestly unreasonable or is based on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons. Hummel, 165 Wn. App. at 777, citing In re Pers. Restraint of Duncan, 167 Wn.2d 398, 402, 219 P.3d 666 (2009). Instructions are adequate if they allow a party to argue its theory of the case and do not mislead the jury or misstate the law. Hummel, 165 Wn. App. at 777, citing State v. Barnes, 153 Wn.2d 378, 382, 103 P.3d 1219 (2005). "[A] specific instruction need not be given when a more general instruction adequately explains the law and enables the parties to argue their theories of the case." State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 605, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), quoting State v. Rice, 110 Wash.2d 577, 603, 757 P.2d 889 (1988).

In *Hummel*, the defendant proposed several instructions regarding the testimony of a prison informant and relied on Federal and out-of-state cases to support his argument, just as the Defendant has done in the present case. *Hummel*, 165 Wn. App. at 777; App.'s Br. at 67-70. In *Hummel*, the Court of Appeals noted that in a similar instance regarding the issue of a cross-racial eyewitness testimony the Court had noted that an instruction on such an issue "risks violating the constitutional prohibition against comments on the evidence." *Id* at 778, *citing State v. Allen*, 161 Wn. App. 727, 255 P.3d 784

(2011).⁹ The *Hummel* court thus concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to give the Defendant's proposed instructions regarding testimony from jailhouse informants. *Hummel*, 165 Wn. App. at 777-79.

Given the clear holding in *Hummel*, there can be no dispute that the trial court was not required to give the Defendant's proposed instruction. Furthermore, the relevant law in Washington remains as it has long been: namely, that instructions are adequate if they allow a party to argue its theory of the case and do not mislead the jury or misstate the law. *Hummel*, 165 Wn. App. at 777, *citing Barnes*, 153 Wn.2d at 382.

As there is no Washington authority that requires or even authorizes an instruction such as the one proposed by the Defendant in the present case, and as the sole Washington case on point held that such an instruction was not required, it is clear that the trial court in the present case did not abuse its discretion in declining to give the Defendant's proposed instruction. Under these circumstances, the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in declining to give the Defendant's novel jury instruction.

⁹ The *Allen* case ultimately went before the Washington Supreme Court, which affirmed and declined to find an abuse of discretion and declined to adopt a general rule requiring a cross-racial instruction. *State v. Allen*, 176 Wn.2d 611, 626, 294 P.3d 670 (2013).

In addition, the trial court in the present case properly instructed the jury on the law regarding the evaluation of the credibility of the witnesses, as Jury Instruction Number 1 provided, in part, that,

You are the sole judges of the credibility of each witness. You are also the sole judges of the value or weight to be given to the testimony of each witness. In considering a witness's testimony, you may consider these things: the opportunity of the witness to observe or know the things he or she testifies about; the ability of the witness to observe accurately; the quality of a witness's memory while testifying; the manner of the witness while testifying; any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues; any bias or prejudice that the witness may have shown; the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all the other evidence; and any other factors that affect your evaluation or belief of a witness or your evaluation of his or her testimony.

CP 1851-52.

This general instruction on evaluating witness credibility was sufficient to instruct the jury on the proper consideration of Mr. Reynolds' and Mr. Dhaenens' testimony, and a more specific instruction was not required under Washington law. In addition, the Defendant was able to argue his theory that the testimony from the informants was not credible under the instruction given, as the above mentioned instruction specifically instructs juries to consider the witness's credibility in "any personal interest that the witness might have in the outcome or the issues" or "the reasonableness of the witness's statements in the context of all of the other evidence." CP at

In short, the Defendant's proposed jury instruction was not required under Washington law and it was unnecessary because the general jury instruction was sufficient to permit the Defendant to argue his theory of the case. Nothing more is required. The Defendant, therefore, has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion when it refused to give the Defendant's proposed jury instruction.

F. THE DEFENDANT'S CLAIM OF CUMULATIVE ERROR IS WITHOUT MERIT BECAUSE THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE TRIAL COURT ERRED.

Finally, the Defendant argues that a reversal is warranted due to cumulative error. App.'s Br. at 75. This claim is without merit, as the trial court did not err.

Cumulative error applies when several errors occurred at the trial court level but none alone is sufficient to warrant reversal. Where the combined errors effectively denied the defendant a fair trial, the cumulative error requires reversal. *State v. Hodges*, 118 Wn. App. 668, 673-74, 77 P.3d 375 (2003). But where there was no "prejudicial error, there can be no cumulative error that deprived the defendant of a fair trial." *State v. Saunders*, 120 Wn. App. 800, 826, 86 P.3d 1194 (2004). The defendant bears the

burden of proving an accumulation of error of sufficient magnitude that retrial is necessary. *In re Pers. Restraint of Lord*, 123 Wn.2d 296, 332, 868 P.2d 835, *clarified by* 123 Wn.2d 737, 870 P.2d 964 (1994).

In the present case the Defendant has failed to show any error or prejudice. Furthermore, even if this Court were to find that the trial court erred in allowing Sergeant Apeland to testify that he recognized the Defendant in the ATM footage, that error was clearly harmless, and a single finding of error (especially harmless error) would not warrant a finding of cumulative error. The Defendant's cumulative error argument, therefore, should be rejected.

IV. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.